S277120

Case: 21-16528, 01/26/2022, ID: 12352242, DktEntry: 19, Page 1 of 82

Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically RECEIVED on 11/2/2022 7:53:55 AM

No. 21-16528

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT

ARMIDA RUELAS; DE'ANDRE EUGENE COX; BERT DAVIS; KATRISH JONES; JOSEPH MEBRAHTU; DAHRYL LAMONT REYN-OLDS; MONICA MASON; LUIS NUNEZ-ROMERO; SCOTT ABBEY,

PLAINTIFFS-APPELLEES,

v.

COUNTY OF ALAMEDA; SHERIFF GREGORY J. AHERN; ARAMARK CORRECTIONAL SERVICES, LLC,

DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS.

ON APPEAL FROM THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA CASE NO. 4:19-CV-07637 (TIGAR, J.)

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs, a putative class of inmates who allegedly performed kitchen work at the Santa Rita Jail pursuant to the County of Alameda's contract with Aramark Correctional Services, LLC ("Aramark"), sued the County, Sheriff Gregory Ahern, and Aramark (collectively, "Defendants"), asserting various labor-related claims under federal and state law. The District Court (Tigar, *J*.) denied in part Defendants' motions to dismiss Plaintiffs' claims for minimum and overtime wages under § 1194 of the California Labor Code. This interlocutory appeal from that decision concerns a single question: Do the minimum and overtime wage provisions of the California Labor Code apply to work performed by non-convicted inmates in county jails?

The answer is "no." For over sixty years, California law has provided that these Labor Code provisions do not apply to county inmates, including non-convicted inmates. Rather, California law delegates discretion to counties to decide whether, and to what extent, inmates may obtain compensation for work they perform in county jails. That delegation precludes—through clear statutory language application of the Labor Code's minimum and overtime wage provisions.

The California Legislature enacted this specific and superseding delegation most plainly in Penal Code § 4019.3. That provision states that county boards of supervisors "may"—not "shall"—provide that county inmates receive a sum "not to exceed" two dollars for each eight hours of work performed. Cal. Penal Code

1

§ 4019.3. This language—which delegates sole discretion over county inmate compensation to county officials, does not require any compensation at all, and sets a maximum potential compensation rate that is well below the minimum and overtime wage rates in the Labor Code—is in unavoidable conflict with the Labor Code provisions invoked by Plaintiffs. And California law prescribes clear rules for how to resolve that conflict. Because Penal Code § 4019.3 "specific[ally]" addresses county inmate compensation—unlike the Labor Code, which is silent on that issue and because § 4019.3 was enacted after the Labor Code, it therefore "supersede[s]" the Labor Code as applied to inmates working in the county jail. *Lopez v. Sony Elecs., Inc.*, 5 Cal. 5th 627, 634–35 (2018) (citation omitted).

While Penal Code § 4019.3 is enough on its own to preclude application of the Labor Code to Plaintiffs' claims, other provisions of the Penal Code, as well as the State Constitution, reaffirm the discretion afforded to the counties that own and operate jails. In particular, §§ 4325 and 4327 of the Penal Code recognize that county inmates may work and earn funds in county jails, but only if authorized by the county board of supervisors and only up to the statutory maximum rate set forth in § 4019.3. And that framework is consistent with the Prison Inmate Labor Initiative of 1990 ("Proposition 139"), a voter initiative that amended the State Constitution to authorize public-private state and county inmate work programs such as the one alleged to exist in this case. 1990 Cal. Legis. Serv. Prop. 139 (West), § 4

(amending Cal. Const. Art. XIV, § 5). As part of that authorization, the People enacted a new compensation statute for inmates who work in *state* prisons pursuant to public-private partnerships, *see id.* § 5 (enacting Penal Code § 2717.8), but conspicuously did not enact a new compensation statute for inmates who work in county jails pursuant to such partnerships, thus leaving in place § 4019.3's discretionary compensation scheme. Indeed, as to county jails, Proposition 139 simply provided that public-private work programs shall be operated in accordance with "rules and regulations prescribed by . . . local ordinances"—a provision that is consonant with § 4019.3, and which further confirms California's legislative policy of delegating discretion on matters of county jail operation, including inmate compensation, to county officials. *Id.* § 4.

Consistent with the California Penal Code and Constitution, there is no dispute that the Alameda Board of Supervisors exercised its discretion not to provide monetary compensation to inmates working at the Santa Rita Jail. Plaintiffs may disagree with that policy judgment, but the decision was within the Board of Supervisors' discretionary power to make.

The District Court's ruling to the contrary was erroneous. Although the District Court correctly held that the Labor Code does not govern work performed by *convicted* inmates in county jails, it nevertheless concluded that the Labor Code's minimum and overtime wage provisions apply to the Plaintiffs' putative sub-class of *non-convicted* inmate workers. Notably, the District Court did not mention Penal Code § 4019.3 in reaching that conclusion, despite Aramark's arguments raising the statute. And the District Court did not persuasively explain why the Penal Code supersedes the Labor Code with respect to convicted inmates but not non-convicted inmates. Nor could it, since both groups constitute "prisoner[s] confined in or committed to" a county jail subject to Penal Code § 4019.3's discretionary wage regime. Rather, by holding that the Labor Code's minimum and overtime wage provisions apply, the District Court nullified the discretion that California law affords local officials—and in doing so, opened the door to substantial, state-wide cost increases for the counties that house and provide services for county inmates. The District Court's ruling should be reversed.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The District Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs' California Labor Code claims for minimum and overtime wages pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. This Court has jurisdiction over the District Court's June 24, 2021 amended order denying Defendants' motions to dismiss such claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1292(b). *See Ruelas v. County of Alameda*, No. 21-80075 (9th Cir. Sept. 16, 2021), ECF No. 4.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

The District Court certified, and this Court granted Defendants' petition for permission to appeal on, the following question as stated by the District Court:

Do non-convicted incarcerated individuals performing services in county jails for a for-profit company that sells goods produced by incarcerated individuals to third parties outside of the county have a claim for minimum wages and overtime under Section 1194 of the California Labor Code in the absence of any local ordinance prescribing or prohibiting the payment of wages for these individuals?

STATEMENT REGARDING PRIMARY AUTHORITIES

Pursuant to Ninth Circuit Rule 28-2.7, pertinent constitutional provisions and statutes are set forth verbatim in an indexed addendum attached hereto.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Relevant Statutes and Constitutional Provisions

This appeal centers on two sets of California laws: provisions of the California Labor Code, which Plaintiffs rely upon to support their claims for minimum and overtime wages, and provisions of the California Penal Code and Constitution, which—unlike the Labor Code provisions—explicitly address whether, and to what extent, inmates who perform work in a county jail are entitled to monetary compensation.

1. The California Labor Code

When the California Legislature enacted the state's first comprehensive Labor Code in 1937, it included the civil cause of action asserted by Plaintiffs here. See The Labor Code, 1937 Cal. Stat. 185, 217 (codifying Labor Code § 1194); see also Martinez v. Combs, 49 Cal. 4th 35, 5 & n.18 (2010) (discussing history of § 1194 and its uncodified predecessor cause of action, enacted in 1913). At the time, Labor Code § 1194 authorized claims only by women and minors, and only to recover unpaid minimum wages. See 1937 Cal. Stat. 217. But the Legislature subsequently expanded § 1194 to authorize women and minors to recover overtime wages, see 1961 Cal. Stat. 1479; to authorize employees other than women and minors to recover minimum wages, see 1972 Cal. Stat. 2156; and, ultimately, to authorize any employee to recover minimum and overtime wages, see 1973 Cal. Stat. 2004-05. Section 1194 thus currently provides, in pertinent part, that "[n]otwithstanding any agreement to work for a lesser wage, any employee receiving less than the legal minimum wage or the legal overtime compensation applicable to the employee is entitled to recover in a civil action the unpaid balance of the full amount of this minimum wage or overtime compensation." Cal. Labor Code § 1194(a).

The minimum and overtime wage standards covered by Labor Code § 1194's cause of action also have long historical roots. In 1916, the Industrial Welfare Commission ("IWC") began issuing industry- and occupation-wide "wage orders"

6

specifying minimum and overtime wage standards. See Alvarado v. Dart Container Corp. of Cal., 4 Cal. 5th 542, 552-53 (2018); Brinker Rest. Corp. v. Superior Ct., 53 Cal. 4th 1004, 1026 (2012); see also History of California Minimum Wage, Cal. Dep't of Indus. Rel., https://www.dir.ca.gov/iwc/minimumwagehistory.htm (last accessed Jan. 20, 2022). As the Legislature recognized when it enacted the Labor Code, the central purpose of these minimum wage standards was to "supply the necessary cost of proper living to, and maintain the health and welfare of," the employees subject to it. 1937 Cal. Stat. 185, 215 (codified at § 1182(a)); see also Martinez, 49 Cal. 4th at 54 (California Legislature's regulation of the minimum wage, as reflected in pre-1937 legislative history, was designed to ensure "necessary shelter, wholesome food, and sufficient clothing" (quotations and citation omitted)). Overtime standards, meanwhile, were intended to "spread employment by encouraging employers to avoid overtime work and thereby employ additional workers on a regular basis," as well as to compensate employees for the "burden of working longer hours." Huntington Mem'l Hosp. v. Superior Ct., 131 Cal. App. 4th 893, 902 (2005) (quotations and citation omitted). Today, California's minimum and overtime wage rates are no longer set by wage order, but by statute—specifically, Labor Code § 510 (prescribing time-and-a-half and double time overtime rates), and Labor Code § 1182.12 (establishing minimum rates of \$11 and \$12 per hour in 2018 and 2019, respectively).

2. The California Penal Code and Constitution

In 1959, the California Legislature enacted the first statute that expressly addressed compensation for labor performed by inmates in county jails-the group that comprises Plaintiffs here. As originally enacted, Penal Code § 4019.3 stated that county "board[s] of supervisors may provide that each prisoner confined in or committed to a county jail shall be credited with a sum not to exceed fifty cents (\$0.50) for each eight hours of work done by him in such jail." 1959 Cal. Stat. 3308 (emphasis added). As the County Supervisors Association of California ("CSAC") which represents the county officials charged with administering § 4019.3—commented prior to the law's enactment, "[a]ll the bill does is permit boards of supervisors to credit county jail prisoners with fifty cents or less for each eight hours of work prisoners do in county jails." Letter from CSAC Gen. Counsel and Manager William MacDougall to Gov. Edmund Brown Re: Senate Bill 1394 (June 18, 1959) (Governor's Chaptered Bill File) (attached as Exhibit A to Aramark's concurrentlyfiled Motion for Judicial Notice ("MJN")). The statute thus did not preclude the use of county inmate labor without "any compensation."¹ Id. (emphasis original).

¹ Boards of supervisors are municipal bodies charged with performing legislative functions and, in certain contexts, executive and quasi-judicial functions for a county. See Cal. Gov't Code §§ 25204, 25207; see also Sacramento Newspaper Guild, Local 92 v. Sacramento Cty. Bd. of Supervisors, 263 Cal. App. 2d 41, 47 (1968).

The original version of § 4019.3 is largely the same as the version in effect today, apart from an increase, in 1975, in the maximum discretionary compensation rate-from 50 cents per eight hours worked to two dollars per eight hours worked. 1975 Cal. Stat. 796–97. During its consideration of the amendment, the California Assembly Committee on Criminal Justice observed that payment under the statute is "permissive," and even asked whether it "should . . . be mandatory." Assembly Bill 1396 Bill Digest, Assembly Comm. on Criminal Justice (prepared for Hearing on May 28, 1975) (Senate Committee on Judiciary materials) (MJN, Ex. C). The Assembly Committee on Criminal Justice also questioned whether increasing the maximum discretionary compensation rate would mean that fewer counties "pay anything." Id. Ultimately, however, the Legislature amended the maximum rate without enacting any other substantive change. Thus, the statute now states that "[t]he board of supervisors may provide that each prisoner confined in or committed to a county jail shall be credited with a sum not to exceed two dollars (\$2) for each eight hours of work done by him in such county jail." Cal. Penal Code § 4019.3.

In 1990, the People of California approved Proposition 139, a voter initiative that authorized public-private labor programs in state prisons and county jails for the first time. 1990 Cal. Legis. Serv. Prop. 139 (West), § 4 (amending Cal. Const. Art. XIV, § 5); 3-ER-574–75. As part of that authorization, Proposition 139 altered the existing compensation scheme for state prisoners (set forth in Penal Code § 2811)

Case: 21-16528, 01/26/2022, ID: 12352242, DktEntry: 19, Page 20 of 82

by enacting a new section of the Penal Code governing compensation for state prisoners who perform work through a public-private labor program. *See* 1990 Cal. Legis. Serv. Prop. 139 (West), § 5 (enacting Penal Code § 2717.8). But Proposition 139 did not similarly enact any new provision to alter the existing compensation scheme for county inmates set forth in Penal Code § 4019.3. Rather, consistent with Penal Code § 4019.3, Proposition 139 provided that public-private labor programs in county jails "shall be operated and implemented . . . by rules and regulations prescribed by . . . local ordinances." *Id.* § 4 (codified at Cal. Const. Art. XIV, § 5).

Here, it is undisputed that the County of Alameda's Board of Supervisors has exercised its discretion not to enact a local ordinance pursuant to Penal Code § 4019.3 or Proposition 139 providing payment to county inmates.²

B. Factual Background

Because this appeal arises at the motion-to-dismiss stage, all plausible and well-pleaded factual allegations in the amended complaint are accepted as true for the limited purposes of this appeal. *See Ashcroft v. Iqbal*, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).

Plaintiffs are current or former inmates of the Santa Rita Jail, which is owned by the County of Alameda and operated by Sheriff Gregory Ahern (together with the County, "County Defendants"). 2-ER-281, 283 (First Amended Complaint

² Plaintiffs argued below that the County's approval of its contract with Aramark was the "equivalent" of a local ordinance, Dist. Ct. Doc. No. 54 at 15, but the District Court correctly rejected that argument, 1-ER-18.

"FAC") ¶¶ 1, 14–15). In 2015, the County Board of Supervisors awarded a contract to Aramark to provide food services (*i.e.*, the "purchase, maintenance and control of food and supplies," among related services) to the inmate population and staff members of the Santa Rita Jail and the now-closed Glenn E. Dyer Detention Facility. 2-ER-193 (Aramark-County Food Services Contract ("FSC"), Ex. A-1 at 1), 284 (FAC ¶ 22); *see* 1-ER-17 (granting Plaintiffs' request to take judicial notice of the contract). Under the contract, Aramark provides meals to the County's inmates and jail staff, 2-ER-193, 197–202 (FSA, Ex. A-1 at 1, 5–10), and to "satellite facilities," which are jails located in other California counties, 2-ER-208 (FSA, Ex. A-2 at 1– 2); 2-ER-281, 287 (FAC ¶¶ 1, 38); MJN, Ex. D (Satellite Facilities Food Service Letter of Understanding between the County and Aramark (dated Jan. 16, 2018 and signed Mar. 15, 2018) ("Letter of Understanding")).

Aramark provides the contracted-for food services using the industrial kitchen at the Santa Rita Jail. 2-ER-284 (FAC ¶ 23). As part of that operation, Plaintiffs prepare and package food and clean and sanitize the kitchen. 2-ER-284 (FAC ¶ 23). This enables Plaintiffs to "get out of their cells for some portion of the day, which is beneficial to their physical and mental health, and obtain additional food for their own enjoyment and nutrition," but Plaintiffs are not paid for working in the kitchen. 2-ER-284, 286 (FAC ¶¶ 23, 35). Aramark employees, in cooperation with Sheriffs' deputies, allegedly supervise inmates who perform kitchen work to

ensure that they comply with safety rules. 2-ER-284–85 (FAC \P 24). Aramark employees also allegedly supervise inmates' conduct (reporting any misconduct to Sheriffs' deputies) and the "quality and amount" of work performed. 2-ER-284–85 (FAC \P 24). In addition, Aramark allegedly determines how much work must be performed in a shift, how many inmates are needed for a shift, and how many shifts are required. 2-ER-285 (FAC \P 25).

C. Procedural Background

On November 20, 2019, Plaintiffs brought this action for damages and declaratory and injunctive relief on behalf of a putative class of inmates at the Santa Rita Jail, alleging violations of the California Labor Code and other state and federal laws. Dist. Ct. Doc. No. 1. Defendants moved to dismiss Plaintiffs' Labor Code § 1194 claims on the ground that the wage and overtime provisions of the Labor Code do not apply to county inmates. The District Court granted in part Defendants' motions to dismiss as to the Labor Code claims brought by convicted inmates, but denied the motion as to claims brought by non-convicted inmates. In particular, the District Court concluded that Proposition 139 does not entitle county inmates (unlike state inmates) to wages unless authorized by local ordinance, and similarly recognized that the Penal Code "presumes that the Labor Code does *not* apply to duly convicted prisoners unless specifically indicated." 2-ER-314–16, 318 (emphasis in original). The District Court, however, reasoned that the Thirteenth Amendment's prohibition against involuntary servitude renders the Labor Code applicable to nonconvicted inmates. *See* 2-ER-319 (concluding that, because non-convicted Plaintiffs "are protected by the Thirteenth Amendment's prohibition against involuntary servi[ce]," they are entitled to "Labor Code protections" with respect to wages).

On July 10, 2020, Plaintiffs filed an amended complaint, operative here, which reasserted claims for minimum and overtime wages under § 1194 of the Labor Code on behalf of non-convicted inmates working in the Santa Rita Jail. 2-ER-296 (FAC ¶¶ 94–101). Defendants again moved to dismiss these claims. 2-ER-240; Dist. Ct. Doc. No. 52. Specifically, Aramark argued that the Penal Code—including, in particular, § 4019.3—"delegates to the county boards the discretion to pay a rate of up to two dollars for each eight hours of work performed by anyone confined in or committed to a county jail," and thus "presumes that the Labor Code does not apply." Dist. Ct. Doc. No. 52 at 22 (cleaned up, emphasis omitted). Aramark further argued that, regardless of an inmate's conviction status, the Penal Code, together with Proposition 139, is "inconsistent with the Labor Code."³ Id. (quotations and

³ Defendants separately argued that Plaintiffs had not adequately alleged an employment relationship with Defendants for purposes of the Labor Code under the test set forth in *Martinez*, 49 Cal. 4th 35 (2010), but the District Court rejected that argument. 1-ER-25–28. While Defendants disagree with the District Court's application of the *Martinez* test at the pleadings stage, that application is not within the scope of the certified question on appeal.

Case: 21-16528, 01/26/2022, ID: 12352242, DktEntry: 19, Page 24 of 82

citation omitted). The District Court, however, denied these motions in relevant part in an order issued February 9, 2021 and an amended order issued June 24, 2021.⁴ Dist. Ct. Doc. No. 66 at 13–19; 1-ER-16–24; *see also* 1-ER-37 (June 24, 2021 Order Granting Motion for Leave to Bring an Interlocutory Appeal, stating that the Court was concurrently issuing an amended order on Defendants' motions to dismiss "to more thoroughly explain the Court's reasoning on the issue certified for interlocutory appeal").

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