Case No. S277120

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

ARMIDA RUELAS; DE'ANDRE EUGENE COX; BERT DAVIS; KATRISH JONES; JOSEPH MEBRAHTU; DAHRYL REYNOLDS; MONICA MASON; LUIS NUNEZ-ROMERO; SCOTT ABBEY; and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

COUNTY OF ALAMEDA; GREGORY J. AHERN, SHERIFF; ARAMARK CORRECTIONAL SERVICES, LLC; and DOES 1 through 10,

Defendants-Petitioners.

United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, Case No. 21-16528

United States District Court for the Northern District of California, Case No. 4:19-cv-07637-JST, Hon. Jon S. Tigar

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

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

The California Legislature passed the state's first minimum wage law in 1913. The Labor Code initially granted the Industrial Welfare Commission the power to enact a "minimum wage to be paid to women and minors engaged in any occupation, trade, or industry in the State, which shall not be less than a wage adequate to supply the necessary costs of proper living to, and maintain the health and welfare of . . . women and minors." Stats. 1913, ch. 324, § 3, subd. (a), p. 633; *Martinez*, 49 Cal.4th at 54; *Kerr's Catering Serv. v. Dep't of Indus. Rels.*, 57 Cal.2d 319 (1962).

The purpose of the law was to protect the workers with the least bargaining power at the time, women and children, from wage exploitation by more powerful industry and to protect society from the injurious effects of such exploitation. *Martinez*, 49 Cal.4th at 54. Petitioners, invoking cases construing federal minimum wage laws, assert that inmates have no need for wages that maintain their health and welfare and supply the necessary cost of living, which were at the core of the Legislature's purpose in setting minimum wages. AOB 47. Petitioners are wrong. Detention imposes direct economic costs on non-convicted detainees, which can be alleviated by the payment of wages for the labor they undertake during their detention.

Pretrial detention can result in the loss of paid employment and property. Thomas Bak, Pretrial Release Behavior of Defendants Whom the U.S. Attorney Wished to Detain, 30 AM. J. CRIM. L. 45, 64-65 (2002). Non-convicted detainees who lose employment as a result of their detention will likely encounter reduced wages if they can find new employment when they are released, as serving time generally reduces earning power. Shima Baradaran Baughman, Costs of Pretrial Detention, 97 B.U.L. Rev. 1, 5 (2017). Some of these detainees have families who depend on them for financial support and suffer economically when the detainee is no longer receiving wages. Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 521, 92 S. Ct. 2182, 2187, 33 L. Ed. 2d 101 (1972). Many households with a family member in jail "struggle to meet their most essential needs." *In re Humphrey*, 19 Cal.App.5th 1006, 1032 (2018). The expenses associated with incarceration or jail time, such as phone, commissary, and travel costs, can push families who were living above the poverty line before becoming involved with the criminal justice system into penury. Id.

These financial losses may result in detainees' families and dependents becoming dependent on the state for support or becoming involved in criminal conduct themselves. Pretrial detention may also result in indirect costs to society. For example, because detention of non-convicted individuals often deprives detainees' children of financial support, these children may be more likely to drop out of school and eventually find themselves in state or county custody. *Reimagining a Prosecutor's Role in Sentencing*, 32

Fed.Sent.R. 195, WL 2020 3163370, Vera Inst. Just. Cost shifting is further enhanced by the fact that that these children are more likely to receive public assistance. Mark Pogrebin, Mary Dodge & Paul Katsampes, *The Collateral Costs of Short-Term Jail Incarceration: The Long-Term Social and Economic Disruptions*, Corr. Mgmt. Q., Fall 2001, at 64, 65.

Paying prevailing wages to non-convicted inmates thus provides them with the means to maintain their own and their families' health and welfare during their detention, but also to ensure that they and their dependents do not become dependent on the state after their release.

C. The Court should not adopt the reasoning of federal courts interpreting the Federal Labor Standards Act, because this case is governed by California, not federal law.

Petitioners ask this Court to adopt the reasoning of federal courts interpreting the Fair Labor Standards Act's ("FLSA") definition of employment to find that the California Labor Code cannot apply to plaintiffs because their relationship to the jail is a unique one that is penological in nature. COB 34–35. The district court declined to do so, and petitioners fail to repair the logical gaps that the court identified in their argument.

As the district court noted, "cases involving claims under the FLSA do not determine the outcome here because . . . this case is governed by California labor law rather than federal labor law." *See Owino v. CoreCivic, Inc.*, WL 2018, 2194644, at *24 (S.D. Cal. May 14, 2018). ("The defect in Defendant's argument is that California's employment definition is explicitly different from FLSA's economic reality test. The California Supreme Court cannot be much clearer

when it said '[i]n no sense is the IWC's definition of the term 'employ' based on federal law.'") (citations omitted.)

The laws of this state are clear: the Labor Code's wage provisions apply to workers who labor for private industry, and pretrial detainees working for Aramark in this context are no exception.

II. The State Laws Cited By Petitioners Do Not Preclude Application Of The California Labor Code To Non-Convicted Persons In County Jails Who Perform Work For A For-Profit Company That Sells The Goods Produced To Third Parties.

Petitioners focus much of their argument on the claim that California Penal Code § 4019.3 applies to the individuals at issue in this case, and, because it conflicts with the wage provisions of the Labor Code, the Labor Code cannot apply. Petitioners argue that § 4019.3 permits but does not require counties to authorize wages not to exceed two dollars for all county inmates for eight hours of work. AOB 10; COB 10.

Petitioners' interpretation of this provision and its significance to this case, however, is based on a misapprehension of the text and legislative background of this provision, as well as basic principles of statutory interpretation.

California Penal Code § 4019.3 provides:

"The board of supervisors may provide that each prisoner confined in or committed to a county jail shall be credited with a sum not to exceed two dollars (\$2) for each eight hours of work done by him in such county jail." Cal. Pen. Code § 4019.3.

A. Penal Code § 4019.3 does not preclude application of the California Labor Code to this case, because Penal Code § 4019.3 does not apply here.

Petitioners argue that the Labor Code's wage provisions could not apply to the individuals at issue because Penal Code § 4019.3, which limits prisoner compensation to two dollars per eight hours of work, applies to all prison and county jail inmates, regardless of their conviction status. They reject respondents' argument before the Ninth Circuit that the Penal Code and the Labor Code's wage provisions are not in conflict, but they fail to address the substance of this argument. Petitioners appear to base their argument regarding Penal Code § 4019.3 on not only a partial reading of respondents' arguments, but also on a partial reading of § 4019.3 and the statutory scheme to which it belongs. The plain language and statutory context of § 4019.3 make clear that the provision *only* applies to county jail inmates working in *public works programs*. Such work programs are sharply distinct from the profit-driven regime in which petitioner Aramark workers find themselves.

B. The text and history of Penal Code § 4019.3 make clear that the statute does not apply to private-public work programs.

Petitioners fix their attention on the phrase "each prisoner confined in or committed to a county jail," which they argue indicates that this provision applies to all detainees in California carceral institutions, regardless of their conviction status. COB 32– 33; AOB 49–50. In their discussion of this part of the statutory text, however, petitioners sidestep not only the legislative context of this provision but also the remainder of the provision's text. Most critically, petitioners neglect to address the text that provides that the board of supervisors may provide a credit to each prisoner for work done by him "in such county jail." Cal. Pen. Code § 4019.3.

As petitioners have acknowledged in their briefs, courts must read a statute to give effect to every word in its text and avoid a reading of statute that renders some words altogether redundant. AOB 29-30; *See, e.g., Lowe v. S.E.C.,* 472 U.S. 181, 208 (1985) ("[W]e must give effect to every word that Congress used in the statute."); *In re Marquez,* 3 Cal.2d 625, 629 (1935) ("To ascertain the meaning of statute, phases therein must be construed in connection with associated phrases."); Thomas M. Cooley, *A Treatise on the Constitutional Limitations Which Rest Upon the Legislative Power of the States of the American Union* 58 (1868) ("[T]he courts must ... lean in favor of a construction which will render every word operative, rather than one which may make some idle and nugatory.").

Here, the phrase "in such county jail" appears after the description of the type of prisoners to whom the provision applies, that is, "each prisoner confined in or committed to a county jail." Because the phrase "confined in or committed to a county jail" modifies "prisoner," the phrase "in such county jail," which comes after it, cannot also serve to signify the state of being detained. Such an interpretation would render the phrase surplusage. Thus, "in such county jail" must refer to work done *for* a county jail.

C. The statutory context of Penal Code § 4019.3 makes clear that the statute does not apply to private-public work programs.

Petitioners also err in interpreting this statute as if it exists in a vacuum rather than as part of a body of law, more specifically, as a provision of a chapter of the California Penal Code. Courts generally interpret provisions of the same body of law together. "Statutes cannot be read intelligently if the eye is closed to considerations evidenced in affiliated statutes. Part of the statute's context is the corpus juris of which it forms a part." Felix Frankfurter, *Some Reflections on the Reading of Statutes*, 47 Colum. L. Rev. 527, 539 (1947). A reading of the corpus juris to which § 4019.3 belongs elucidates the meaning of the provision's plain text, particularly its subject matter, that is, the terms of compensation for inmates working in public works programs.

California Penal Code Part 3, Title 4, Chapter 1, which encompasses this provision, refers only to public works programs. In fact, two provisions that appear just before § 4019.3 explicitly refer to labor on public works. *See* Cal. Penal Code §§ 4017 and 4018. Section 4017 authorizes "the board of supervisors or city council" to require "[a]ll persons confined in the county jail ... under a final judgment of imprisonment rendered in a criminal action or proceeding ... to perform labor on the public works or ways in the county or city." Cal. Penal Code § 4017. Section 4018 provides that the board of supervisors may prescribe and enforce rules and regulations under which labor on public works or ways may be performed. The board of supervisors making such order may prescribe and enforce the rules and regulations under which such labor is to be performed. Cal. Penal Code § 4018.

Because these statutes together form the same corpus juris, the Court should conclude that the labor referred to in § 4019.3 is public works program labor.

D. The legislative background of Penal Code § 4019.3 makes clear that statute does not apply to private-public work programs.

The legislative background of § 4019.3 further supports this conclusion. It is clear that when the legislature passed and enacted § 4019.3 in 1959, it did not intend for the provision to apply to detainees working for private entities. Contemporaneous analysis of the bill reflects this intent. In a 1934 Senate analysis of the bill, the Senate writes that "[p]risoners assigned to honor farms can now be paid a small wage. The services of men working in the jail kitchens, laundry, or various maintenance assignments are of equal value." See Analysis of Senate Bill 139 (June 10, 1959) (from the Hugo Fisher Papers, 1958-1962, UCLA Library, Department of Special Collections). These work assignments fall within the definition of public works, which "includes clerical and menial labor in the county jail, industrial farm, camps maintained for the labor of such persons upon the ways in the county, or city jail." Cal. Lab. Code § 1720; Cal. Penal Code § 4017. But, as petitioners concede, respondents' labor falls outside the scope of "public works" projects. COB 33.

The legal backdrop against which § 4019.3 was enacted also confirms this intent. When the provision was enacted in 1959, the California Constitution prohibited contracting with any private company for the use of "convict labor." 1990 Cal. Legis. Serv. Prop 139. It was not until 1990, when Article X, § 6 of the California Constitution was repealed by Proposition 139, that such contracts between private and public entities were authorized by state law. *Id*.

Petitioners argue that voters would have amended or repealed § 4019.3 had they intended to make wages mandatory or allow compensation in excess of the two dollar per eight hours in the context of a public-private work program. COB 25. Petitioners are, again, incorrect. There is no need to repeal or amend § 4019.3 to reflect that intent, because it already does so: the provision's text, statutory context, and the circumstances around its enactment already make clear that it applies only to public works programs. More sharply put, the law may cover county public works programs but to expand it to cover private-sector expropriation of detainee labor would be to dramatically distort it.

E. Penal Code § 4019.3 does not preclude application of the California Labor Code to respondents, because the provision sets forth a permissive, non-exclusive, procedure.

Even in a hypothetical situation in which § 4019.3 would apply to all detainee-workers, the provision would not preclude the application of the Labor Code to respondents here. That is because, as petitioners acknowledge, § 4019.3 is permissive, meaning it sets forth how the board of supervisors "may" act, not how it is required to act. AOB 35. *See* Analysis of Senate Bill 139 (June 10, 1959) (from the Hugo Fisher Papers, 1958-1962, UCLA Library, Department of Special Collections) (clarifying that the adoption of the measure will "permit a County Board of Supervisors to pay a county jail prisoner.") But petitioners fail to recognize that the provision is inapplicable here for that reason, in addition to those discussed above.

Given that the provision describes a permissive boardinitiated payment scheme, it is not and does not claim to be exclusive or to wholly occupy the field of what the board of supervisors may do. Petitioners fail to recognize that "[t]hough it is a general rule that a special controls a general statute, without regard to their respective dates, still it is not always or necessarily true that a special law entirely excludes from its field of operations the provisions of a general law, where the two can occupy the same domain without any inherent antagonism." *Cohn v. Isensee*, 45 Cal.App. 531, 536 (Cal. Ct. App. 1920).

For example, in *Anderson v. Sherman*, 125 Cal.App.3d 228 (Cal. Ct. App. 1981), appellants appealed a judgment entered against them in superior court on the grounds that they were not served properly, because they were served under the general rules of service set forth in the Code of Civil Procedure, rather than more specific provisions of the Vehicle Code, §§ 17450 through 17456 and 17462, which govern the means by which out-of-state residents may be served in an auto accident case. The court ruled against the appellants, reasoning that "nowhere do these Vehicle Code sections declare this procedure for service of summons to be the exclusive method of service in the cases to which it applies; nor have defendants cited any case construing it as such" and that the service provisions of the more general statute "have universal application." *Anderson*, 125 Cal.App.3d at 235-237.

Petitioners invoke *Stoetzl v. Department of Human Resources* 7 Cal.5th 718 (2019) for the proposition that § 4019.3 cannot apply in this context because it is more specific than the Labor Code's wage provisions. AOB 32. But *Stoetzl* does nothing to support petitioners' argument. That case is distinguishable from the case here because the more specific provision there *conflicted* with the Labor Code in the context of wages for state employees. 7 Cal.5th at 744.

Here, as explained above, there is no conflict between the Labor Code and Penal Code § 4019.3 in this particular context. The salient takeaway of *Stoetzl* for this Court's purposes is that, as a background principle, the Labor Code's wage rules apply to workers. *Id.* at 946.

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